# SAFE and CARING SCHOOLS

# A Policy Directive and Action Plan to Enhance Student PRESENCE AND ENGAGEMENT

2023



# SAFE and CARING SCHOOLS

A Policy Directive and Action Plan to Enhance Student **PRESENCE AND ENGAGEMENT** 

> 2023 Manitoba Education and Early Childhood Learning

Manitoba Education and Early Childhood Learning Cataloguing in Publication Data

Safe and caring schools : a policy directive and action plan to enhance student presence and engagement

Includes bibliographical references. This resource is available in print and electronic formats. ISBN: 978-0-7711-6496-5 (print) ISBN: 978-0-7711-6498-9 (pdf)

Copyright © 2023, the Government of Manitoba, represented by the Minister of Education and Early Childhood Learning.

Manitoba Education and Early Childhood Learning Winnipeg, Manitoba, Canada

Every effort has been made to acknowledge original sources and to comply with copyright law. If cases are identified where this has not been done, please notify Manitoba Education and Early Childhood Learning. Errors or omissions will be corrected in a future edition. Sincere thanks to the authors, artists, and publishers who allowed their original material to be used.

All images found in this resource are copyright protected and should not be extracted, accessed, or reproduced for any purpose other than for their intended educational use in this resource.

Any websites referenced in this resource are subject to change without notice. Educators are advised to preview and evaluate websites and online resources before recommending them for student use.

This resource is available on the Manitoba Education and Early Childhood Learning website at <a href="www.edu.gov.mb.ca/k12/safe\_schools/index.html">www.edu.gov.mb.ca/k12/safe\_schools/index.html</a>.

Disponible en français.

Available in alternate formats upon request.

# Contents

Acknowledgements	V
Introduction	1
General Guidelines	3
Foundational Principles and Conditions for Success	4
Legislation and Policies	5
Provincial Legislation	5
Provincial Policies and Reports	6
Guidelines for School Division Policies to Enhance Student Presence and Engagement	7
Guideline 1: Common Terminology	7
Guideline 2: Enhancing Proactive and Preventative Attendance Practices	8
Guideline 3: Documenting, Monitoring, Analyzing, and Reporting	11
Guideline 4: Response to Chronic Absenteeism	12
Guideline 5: Coordinated Services	13
Guideline 6: Roles and Responsibilities	14
Action Plan for Student Presence and Engagement	17
Appendix: Historical Context	21
2019: Province Established Attendance Task Force	21
2019: The Manitoba Advocate for Children and Youth	21
2020: Commission on K to 12 Education	23
2021: Consultations for a New Action Plan for Student Presence	24
2022: Manitoba's K to 12 Education Action Plan and the Vision for Student Success	25

Resources	26
Bibliography	28
Relevant Legislation	28

# Acknowledgements

Manitoba's attendance policy directive to enhance student presence and engagement has been developed in collaboration with the Attendance Task Force, which was in place from April 2019 to June 2022. Work on enhancing student presence and engagement has continued with the establishment of the School and Community Support Unit within Manitoba Education and Early Childhood Learning and with the release of this policy directive.

We thank the following task force members for their guidance, recommendations, and work:

- Community Members: Sel Burrows and Kent Dueck
- Manitoba Association of School Superintendents: Barb Isaak
- Winnipeg School Division: Pauline Clark and Celia Caetano-Gomes
- Frontier School Division: Reg Klassen and Tyson MacGillivray
- Government: Representatives from Families, Indigenous Reconciliation and Northern Relations, Justice, and Education and Early Childhood Learning

In partnership with the Attendance Task Force, the department engaged Directions Evidence and Policy Research Group to develop an action plan in consultation with the following:

- school divisions/districts/independent funded schools
- school-level personnel
- Indigenous Inclusion Directorate Advisory Council
- Manitoba Association of School Superintendents
- Manitoba School Boards Association
- The Manitoba Teachers' Society
- Éducatrices et éducateurs francophones du Manitoba
- Council of School Leaders
- Student Services Administrators' Association of Manitoba
- Manitoba Advocate for Children and Youth
- Student Advisory Council
- Poverty and Education Task Force participants
- members of academia
- various provincial government departments
- community members

The policy directive also builds upon extensive participation of educators, students, families, community organizations, partners, and school boards as part of the Commission on K to 12 Education. Attendance-related information, including student voices, has been embedded as part of the report.

We thank all of those involved in the development of this important policy work.

#### Land Treaty Acknowledgement

We recognize that Manitoba is on Treaty 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, and 10 Territories and the ancestral lands of the Anishinaabe, Anishininewuk, Dakota Oyate, Denesuline, Ininiwak, and Nehethowuk Peoples. We acknowledge Manitoba is located on the Homeland of the Red River Métis. We acknowledge northern Manitoba includes lands that were and are the ancestral lands of the Inuit.

We respect the spirit and intent of Treaties and Treaty Making and remain committed to working in partnership with First Nations, Inuit, and Métis people in the spirit of truth, reconciliation, and collaboration.

# Introduction

"Student absenteeism is a puzzle composed of multiple pieces that has a significant influence on education outcomes, including graduation and the probability of dropping out. The factors that contribute to it are complex and multifaceted, and likely vary from one school setting, district, and state to another" (Garcia and Weiss, 2018).

Students who attend school regularly are more engaged in learning, have a greater opportunity to access school and community resources, have a greater sense of belonging, and are more likely to reach their full potential. Student presence and engagement is required for success.

Student absence is a serious impediment to a student's educational performance and well-being. Absenteeism can have lasting negative impacts on student achievement, graduation rates, transition to post-secondary education, employment, and social inclusion, as well as on the community at large.

Attendance issues are often a first sign that a student is experiencing life challenges, and there is a multitude of contributing factors, ranging from academic, social, economic, and psychological. These include and are not limited to

- poor health
- poor mental health
- family and work responsibilities
- transportation
- bullying
- homelessness
- undiagnosed cognitive vulnerabilities
- death of a parent or loved one

The disruption to schooling from 2020 to 2022 has emphasized the fundamental necessity of presence in school to ensure the well-being and mental health, learning, achievement, and social development of children and youth. This experience has

also provided our education system with best practices on engaging students and supporting re-entry into the school system.

Manitoba Education and Early Childhood Learning commits to work across the system to enhance student presence and engagement. Collectively, we share responsibility to facilitate and promote student presence and engagement with a focus on identifying and removing barriers early.

A lot of good work is happening in and across Manitoba schools to support student presence and engagement. This policy directive and related action plan have been created to provide provincial guidance to build upon the work of school divisions, school leaders, educators, and other partners. This policy directive is also designed to identify and address absenteeism before it becomes a problem.

Feedback from students, parents<sup>\*</sup>, teachers, principals, divisional leaders, and others is vital in identifying elements of the policy that are working well and areas that may require additional focus. Stakeholders are invited to provide feedback on the policy and its implementation throughout the year by emailing the School and Community Support Unit, Manitoba Education and Early Childhood Learning, at <u>attendance@gov.mb.ca</u>.

<sup>\*</sup> The term *parent(s)* includes the caregiver(s), legal guardian(s), or any other person involved in raising the child (such as a grandparent, step-parent, foster parent, or extended family). It is used with the recognition that in some cases only one parent may be involved in a child's education, or that the significant adult in the life of a student may not be their parent.

# **General Guidelines**

School divisions are required to update their local policies in accordance with the provincial guidelines outlined in this policy directive in spring 2023 to ensure that all guidelines are met and in place by fall 2023. School divisions are responsible to create/amend, implement, and monitor student attendance policies responsive to local contexts and needs based on the guiding principles and focus areas articulated within this document.

In revising or developing policies and procedures on student attendance, it is expected that the school division policies and procedures are

- consistent with the guidelines in this document
- applicable to all students and engage parents
- consistent across schools
- made known to staff, parents, stakeholders, and the public

Schools and school divisions are encouraged to consult with students, parents, school staff, and divisional supports (e.g., school psychologists, school social workers, graduation coaches, school-family liaison workers, community connectors, etc.).

# **Foundational Principles and Conditions for Success**

In order to successfully enhance student presence and engagement, student attendance policies must reflect the following foundational principles and conditions:

- Presence and engagement begins with relationships. Reciprocal and respectful relationships with students, families, parents, Elders, Knowledge Keepers, communities, organizations, and the school need to be established, nurtured, and cared for.
- Student success and well-being is the collective responsibility of all who are responsible for children and youth.
- Putting students at the centre is the driver of all planning and responses.
- Safe, caring, and inclusive learning environments are foundational to student presence and engagement.
- Student absence requires consistent attention and collective action. Ensuring student presence requires continuity of effort and resources over time.
- Absenteeism has a range of root causes and effects that cross sectors, government departments, and jurisdictions. Policies and procedures must work in collective coordination and partnership with schools, organizations, parents, and communities, and across government agencies to support and improve regular daily presence and engagement for all students.

Best practices will continue to be compiled and shared as this policy directive is implemented.

*"Support and encouragement are two of the most important things for a student to achieve success... It builds up my confidence which makes me push harder into my schooling knowing I have people behind me who want to see me succeed."* – student submission, Commission on K to 12 Education

*"Most helpful thing in achieving success is having teachers who actually care."* – student submission

"Positive relationships with teachers are key." - student submission

# **Legislation and Policies**

The policy and principles included in this document build on those found in current provincial legislation, policies, and reports.

### **Provincial Legislation**

- <u>The Public Schools Act</u>
- The Education Administration Act
- <u>The Human Rights Code</u>
- <u>The Protecting and Supporting Children (Information Sharing) Act</u>
- The Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act

Under Manitoba's *Public Schools Act*, children are required to attend school from the time they reach compulsory school age (7 years of age or will be reaching 7 years of age by December 31 in a given calendar year) until they attain the age of 18. Every parent of a child of compulsory school age is responsible for sending their child to school regularly. Every student is responsible for attending school and classes regularly and on time and completing assignments and other related work.

The Public Schools Act directs that where a child is absent from school the teacher or the employee recording school attendance shall, in writing, report the matter, including the name of the child, to the principal of the school. A principal who receives a report of an absence must, if satisfied that the child is in fact absent,

- (a) report the absence to the child's parent; and
- (b) inform them of their obligation to ensure that the child
  - (i) attends school, or
  - (ii) if the child is at least 15 years old, participates in an activity or program provided for in the regulations made under section 262.2.

A principal must report a child's absence to the local school attendance officer if the principal is satisfied that

- (a) the child continues to be absent from school after the child's parent has been informed of the absence; and
- (b) the parent has had a reasonable opportunity to comply with their obligations under this Act.

### **Provincial Policies and Reports**

- <u>Standards for Appropriate Educational Programming in Manitoba (2022)</u>
- Policy Directive Enhancing Proactive Supports to Minimize the Use of Seclusion
   (2021)
- <u>An Indigenous Education Policy Framework (2022)</u>
- Manitoba's K to 12 Education Action Plan: A Roadmap in Response to the Recommendations of the Commission on K to 12 Education (2022)
- <u>Our Children's Success: Manitoba's Future. Report of the Commission on K to 12</u> <u>Education (2020)</u>
- <u>A Place Where it Feels Like Home: The Story of Tina Fontaine (Manitoba Advocate</u> for Children and Youth; 2019)

An Indigenous Education Policy Framework supports the holistic achievements of First Nations, Metis, and Inuit learners by helping Manitoba educators incorporate Indigenous languages, cultures, and identities into their teaching practices, setting all students up for success in school and beyond. The four strategic priority areas (Authentic Involvement; Putting Students at the Centre; Understanding World Views, Values, Identities, Traditions, and Contemporary Lifestyles; and Inclusive and Culturally Safe Learning Environments) provide the foundation to supporting and enhancing student presence and engagement.

"An equitable, inclusive, and diverse education system fosters a sense of belonging in all learners so that they feel they can succeed, take responsibility and find their purpose in life, and achieve The Good Life / Mino-pimatisiwin (Ininew) / Mino Bimaadiziwin (Anishinabemowin) / honso aynai (Dene) / tokatakiya wichoni washte (Dakota) / minopimatitheewin (Anisininimowin) /  $\Delta^{\circ}$  in 16/21016 (Inuktitut) / Miyopimatishiwin (Michif)"

# **Guidelines for School Division Policies to Enhance Student Presence and Engagement**

### **GUIDELINE 1: COMMON TERMINOLOGY**

Policies must include definitions for presence, engagement, regular attendance, absences, absenteeism, and student-specific planning that are consistent with those in this guideline.

**Presence:** When a student attends and participates in the school or classroom on the days in which they are required. This is an entry point to being able to engage students in the process of learning. Students may be present even if they are not physically within a classroom, depending on their student-specific plan.

**Engagement:** Students' attitudes towards schooling, their attendance and participation in school activities, disposition towards learning, and working and socializing with others in school. Engagement is expressed in students' feelings that they belong at school, and in their participation in school activities (OECD, 2003).

**Regular Attendance:** Coming to school and/or participating in learning consistently and on a routine, habitual basis, missing no more than five days for the entire school year.

**Absence:** Any time that a student is not in class or not participating in a school activity while not being on suspension/expulsion.

- **Excused Absence** refers to any time that a student is not present in class or not participating in a school sanctioned activity (while not being on suspension/expulsion) with the mutual consent of the school principal and the parent.
- **Unexcused Absence** refers to any time a student is not present in class or not participating in a school sanctioned activity (while not being on suspension/expulsion) without the mutual consent of the school principal and the parent.

**Chronic Absenteeism:** Where unexcused absences account for 10 or more classes in a single high school course or 10 percent or more of instructional days in Kindergarten to Grade 8 in a reporting period.

**Severe Chronic Absenteeism:** Where unexcused absences account for 20 or more classes in a single high school course or 20 percent or more of instructional days in Kindergarten to Grade 8 in a reporting period.

**Student-Specific Plan (SSP):** A planning, record-keeping, and communication document, as outlined in <u>Standards for Appropriate Educational Programming in Manitoba</u> (MEECL, 2022). Student-specific planning is a process through which members of student support teams meet the unique needs of individual students; it may range from short-term strategies applied in the classroom to comprehensive, individualized programming.

# GUIDELINE 2: ENHANCING PROACTIVE AND PREVENTATIVE ATTENDANCE PRACTICES

Policies must include immediate, personal outreach to students whose absence is unexcused.

School divisions must seek a proactive approach that supports students by identifying and solving barriers to student presence and engagement early to prevent further absences and to limit and reduce the risk of chronic absenteeism. Building good habits in the early years has a positive impact on a child's education throughout their later school years.

Taking a proactive response to even a day of absence creates opportunities to provide supports and intervention before absenteeism becomes persistent. This includes and is not limited to the following:

- School notifying parent(s) via voicemail/automated system; and
- If absence persists, a personal contact from the teacher or designate to better under the nature of the absence and proactively identify strategies in response to barriers.

Preventative practices to **enhance student engagement**, **well-being**, **and success** can include the following:

• Creating a safe, welcoming, and culturally responsive school environment for students. Student engagement with school is strengthened when students experience school as a safe and welcoming environment that recognizes and supports their cultural needs.

- Addressing gaps in nutrition addresses a basic need that supports student health and well-being and is a barrier to student engagement and success when it is unmet.
- Improving student and parent engagement with school. Positively engaging parents with school, including providing opportunities to connect with school and acknowledging and supporting family circumstances, supports the presence of their children in school.
- Enhance visibility of staff at transition times. This includes throughout the school day as well as when students move from one grade or another or to different schools.

"The biggest struggle I faced when beginning my school journey was in high school. I went to a school that only saw you when you stood out with achievements from the school itself. It was too big to see you as a normal individual. That bummed me out hard. I was used to having that human interaction back at my old middle school. I didn't really start to notice this until grade 10 and this got me down. I felt like I needed to be the best all the time and that got to me when I started to get lower marks. I got depressed I started not going to school I started to stay cooped up in my room." – student comment, Commission on K to 12 Education

Preventative practices to **ensure safe, supportive environments for students** can include the following:

- Creating and implementing a culturally relevant and responsive curriculum. Students are more engaged in and positive about school when they see their cultures reflected in the curriculum.
- Establishing and implementing restorative practice, including restorative justice approaches.
- Expanding implementation of anti-racism and anti-discrimination education.
- Ensuring culturally safe educational environments and cultural competence among all school division staff.

The Circle of Courage<sup>®</sup> model further provides direction to supporting and enhancing student presence and engagement. The model quotes Lakota anthropologist Ella Deloria to describe the core value of The Spirit of Belonging as "Being related, somehow, to everyone you know." (Starr Commonwealth). The Spirit of Belonging's understanding of respect and kinship can support nurturing students' sense of community and relationship, fundamental to all planning and responses.

#### The Spirit of Generosity

Character is cultivated by concern for others so that the child can say, "I have a purpose for my life."

# CIRCLE OF COURA The Spirit of Independence

Free will is cultivated by responsibility so that the child can say, "I have the power to make decisions."

#### The Spirit of **Belonging**

The universal longing for human bonds is cultivated by relationships of trust so that the child can say, "I am loved."

#### The Spirit of Mastery

The inborn thirst for learning is cultivated; by learning to cope with the world, the child can say, "I can succeed."

The Circle of Courage<sup>®</sup> is a trademarked title registered to Starr Commonwealth, and is a positive youth development model that is based on the universal principle that to be emotionally healthy all youth need a sense of belonging, mastery, independence and generosity. The copy righted content within this unique model was developed by Starr's 2nd President, Dr. Larry K. Brendtro (PhD), and his colleagues, and it provides the philosophical foundation for Starr Commonwealth's resilience-focused approach to working with children, families, and communities, in addition to the work of Reclaiming Youth International.

# GUIDELINE 3: DOCUMENTING, MONITORING, ANALYZING, AND REPORTING

Policies must include documenting, monitoring, analyzing, and reporting on student presence and absence at the divisional and school level.

#### Data is the foundation; we measure what matters.

Policies must include the following:

- Consistent, daily recording procedures and common metrics on student presence and absence, including whether absences are excused or unexcused.
- Monitoring enrolment data to ensure that all students expected to be present are in school. This includes comparing enrolment registers year over year, as well as reviewing unclaimed pupil files and homeschool reports from the department.
- Regular monitoring and analyzing of division-wide and school enrollment and attendance data.
- Procedures for investigating and identifying the causes of student absences and determining the appropriate supports that are required to promote regular attendance.
- An early warning system and non-punitive outreach protocols to identify students who are likely to experience chronic absenteeism by monitoring, disaggregating, and responding to student presence and absence data trends at all levels.
- Ensuring that student attendance is a standing agenda item at senior administration meetings and school-based support team meetings.

In divisions where there are high incidents of student absenteeism, divisional attendance committees may be considered as a mechanism to ensure that student absenteeism is monitored and that responsive planning is in place. Committees at the school level are also recommended where feasible.

Provincial enrollment data is currently reported twice annually. The planned provincial Student Information System will automate attendance data and enable timely review and analysis at all levels.

# **GUIDELINE 4: RESPONSE TO CHRONIC ABSENTEEISM**

Policies must prohibit the use of suspensions, expulsions, and withdrawals as a response to absenteeism and must include a requirement for student-specific planning for students who are experiencing chronic or severe chronic absenteeism.

Policies must include formal written notification to Manitoba Education and Early Childhood Learning for students who experience severe chronic absenteeism.

Responses to absences must be non-punitive, fair, and predictable for all students.

Suspension, expulsions, and withdrawals are inappropriate and counterproductive responses to absenteeism, and must be eliminated from practice.

Students who are chronically absent must have a student-specific plan in place to identify the student-specific barriers affecting attendance and the strategies in place to respond to these barriers. This includes initiating a meeting of the core team, including the parent. Student-specific planning processes are detailed in the department's <u>Standards for</u> <u>Appropriate Educational Programing</u>.

Responses to student absenteeism will vary based on the age, grade, and development of the student, the professional judgment of teachers and principals, and the individual circumstances of the student. Responses may include connecting the student and/or their family with school-based or division-based supports and/or with outside agencies, if needed.

Student-specific planning to respond to attendance issues may include appropriate alternative educational programming, which provides options such as flexible timetabling, a variety of assessment methods/options, opportunities for credit acquisition and credit recovery, and ways to ensure learning is accessible to the student based on their current level of performance.

When a student reaches the number of absences defined as **chronic absenteeism**, a meeting of the core team is required, including the parent. If a student reaches the number of absences defined as **severe chronic absenteeism**, an in-school intervention is needed along with other members of the school support team and external agencies, if applicable.

If the school has been unsuccessful in addressing severe chronic absenteeism for a student, the division must notify the department's School and Community Support Unit in writing, as well as notify Child and Family Services (CFS) if there are concerns about student safety and well-being.

The unit will connect with the school division and support broader system planning through consultation and collaboration with interdepartmental contacts and community service agencies.

# **GUIDELINE 5: COORDINATED SERVICES**

Policies must include a coordinated response procedure, including restorative practices, which supports the return of students to school.

Reducing barriers to student presence requires personalized assessment, planning, coordination, and monitoring of students. A case management approach to facilitate this process is required to coordinate the complexity of supports and to provide a stable point of contact to establish relationships with chronically absent students and their parents.

The school must designate a case manager to respond to and work with the student and their parents. This process is outlined in the Case Management section of *Supporting Inclusive Schools: A Handbook for Resource Teachers in Manitoba Schools* (Manitoba Education and Advanced Learning).

The focus should always be on inviting students back and finding the necessary resources to support attendance.

Disengaged students benefit from restorative practices to reengage with the school environment. Conflict in the school environment may be a barrier to student presence. Restorative practices can reduce conflict, bullying, and absenteeism and strengthen relationships.

Restorative practices provide opportunities to make amends and repair relationships, and they reduce the likelihood of future harms while holding individuals accountable. These approaches allow students to understand the impact of negative behaviour on others and to develop empathy.

<u>The Protecting and Supporting Children (Information Sharing) Act</u> supports collaborative and timely intervention efforts by enabling information sharing about supported children and their parents by service providers for the purposes of providing services or benefits to children.

When the school is aware of an external agency involvement with a student who is chronically absent, this agency must be included as part of the student-specific planning process.

School divisions must provide staff with direction on informed consent for information sharing from parents in compliance with the *Manitoba Pupil File Guidelines, The Freedom* of Information and Protection of Privacy Act, The Personal Health Information Act, and The Protecting and Supporting Children (Information Sharing) Act.

"We cannot afford to think about our education system as being divorced from the mental health and well-being of our children and our communities. Schools do not exist solely to impart content knowledge and develop problem solving and critical thinking skills; they must also create holistic approaches to fostering well-being in schools, offer robust and relevant learning opportunities in a safe environment, and strengthen relationships with parents and the community." – written submission, Commission on K to 12 Education

### **GUIDELINE 6: ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES**

Policies must include clearly articulated roles and responsibilities of students, parents, teachers, principals/designates, and school divisions that are consistent with those in these guidelines.

#### **Students**

- are responsible to attend school and classes regularly and punctually
- must comply with the school's code of conduct, and complete assignments and other related work required by teachers
- participate in student-specific planning as developmentally appropriate

**Note:** It is recognized that elementary-age students are more dependent on their parents to help them attend school regularly.

#### **Parents**

- have the right to be informed regularly of the attendance, behaviour, and academic achievement of their child in school, and to participate in planning
- are responsible for cooperating fully with the child's teachers and other employees of the school division or school district to ensure the child complies with the school's code of conduct
- must take all reasonable measures to ensure the child attends school regularly

#### **Teachers**

- are responsible for monitoring and recording student attendance
- are responsible for timely communication to the principal and the parent
- identify potential issues related to chronic lateness and/or absenteeism
- promote and support regular attendance

- communicate (verbally and in writing, if needed) with students and parents when concerns related to attendance arise
- document steps taken to communicate with students, parents, and outside agencies when concerns related to attendance arise
- participate in the student-specific planning process

#### **Principals/designates**

- are responsible to work with teachers, students, parents, and others, as needed, to promote regular attendance, including identifying supports in response to student absences
- ensure teachers maintain accurate attendance records
- monitor and review student attendance data and oversee the student-specific planning process, including the assignment of a case manager for students experiencing chronic absenteeism
- report chronic/severe absenteeism to the school division
- invite community agencies, organizations and associations, other education authorities, and regional health and children's services authorities to plan collaboratively in support of appropriate educational programming and planning for students
- lead school-based attendance initiatives

#### School divisions

- ensure students who are eligible for enrolment with the division receive regular and appropriate educational programming
- work with schools, parents, and community and other partners to ensure that students are regularly present
- ensure that schools track student attendance accurately, document any students who are chronically absent, and take immediate, sustained action to address causes of chronic absenteeism until the student is regularly present
- work with schools and agencies to identify supports and interventions to help meet both the educational and non-educational needs of students and families to ensure regular school attendance, such as through coordinated services
- ensure culturally safe educational environments and cultural competence among all staff

Beyond local policies, it is important to note some additional responsibilities that are embedded in the overall action plan, including the following:

#### **Manitoba Education and Early Childhood Learning**

- monitors and supports implementation of the Attendance Policy Directive in school divisions and reviews its effectiveness
- assists divisions through consultation and collaboration with interdepartmental contacts and community service agencies, as necessary
- collects, monitors, analyzes, and reports provincial attendance data through the provincial attendance index
- establishes and maintains connections with inter-sectoral partners to support student presence and engagement in schools
- creates a culturally relevant and responsive curriculum
- supports the implementation of attendance strategies, including restorative practice
- expands implementation of anti-racism and anti-discrimination education
- supports culturally safe educational environments and cultural competence
- reviews and updates the policy directive on a three-year cycle

#### **Government service providers and community partners**

- reinforce the importance of school attendance in all interactions with family and students
- share relevant information with schools and work collaboratively with students, parents, schools, and school divisions
- provide supports and services that encourage regular attendance and help decrease any barriers that may be affecting a student's ability to attend school
- participate in coordinated case management and responsive planning for those who are chronically absent

# **Action Plan for Student Presence and Engagement**

Through experience, engagement, and research, the following six areas of focus have been identified to enhance student presence and engagement. Many of these actions have been incorporated into the above policy directive, and additional strategies will be developed and implemented over time in support of these focus areas based on research, best practice, and recommendations from other provincial reports. This includes the Poverty and Education Task Force, which focused on identifying barriers to participation and actionable strategies.

The priority actions are guided by foundational principles and conditions for success for increasing and maintaining student presence and engagement:

- collective responsibility and coordination among all who are responsible for children and youth
- individualized, student-centred planning and monitoring
- multiple contributing solutions, including a welcoming, inclusive, culturally safe learning environment, student engagement, success planning, mentoring, and monitoring of progress

•	enduring commitment	requiring	consistent a	and	constant attention
---	---------------------	-----------	--------------	-----	--------------------

	Role/R			
Action Item	Manitoba	School Divisions	Schools	Progress
1. Update school attendance policy (Guidelines 1–6)	1	1	1	
Shift the focus from absenteeism to student presence and engagement	1	1	1	Underway
Ensure consistent implementation of terminology and definitions	1	1	1	Underway
Prohibit the use of suspensions, expulsion, and withdrawals as a response to student absenteeism	1	1	1	Underway
Require immediate outreach and action in response to student attendance		1	1	Underway

	Role/R			
Action Item	Manitoba	School Divisions	Schools	Progress
Review and update attendance legislation to ensure terminology and definitions align with current research, which includes review of the current compulsory school age requirement and the role of the attendance officer	1			Planned
Review and update enrolment reporting and resident pupil definitions and related policies	1	1		Planned
2. Collect data on student presence/ attendance (Guidelines 1, 4)	1	1	1	
Develop consistent recording procedures and metrics on student presence and absence, including whether absences are excused or unexcused	1	1		Underway
Monitor, record, and investigate student presence and absences daily			1	Underway
Create an early warning system and protocols to identify students who are likely to experience chronic absenteeism		1	1	Underway
Monitor, disaggregate, analyze, and respond to student presence and absence data trends at all levels	1	1	1	Underway
Ensure school divisions include planning and reporting on student attendance annually as part of the planning and reporting guidelines for the Framework for Continuous Improvement	1	1		Planned
Report publicly on the provincial attendance index included as part of the department's annual report	1			Underway
Review unclaimed pupil file process	1			Planned
Ensure that homeschool students are registered and are receiving an education	1			Underway
Establish thresholds of student attendance and impact on student achievement through data analysis	1			Planned
Implement a provincial Student Information System that will enable detailed review and analysis of data at all levels, in real time	1			Underway

	Role/Responsibilities			
Action Item	Manitoba	School Divisions	Schools	Progress
3. Coordinated case management (Guidelines 4, 5, 6)	1	1	1	
Ensure all students who are expected to be present at school are present and accounted for		1	1	Underway
Create, maintain, and monitor a coordinated case management approach to persistent or extended absence		1	1	Planned
Implement student-specific planning to support students who experience chronic absenteeism			1	Planned
Provide professional development for case managers, specific to planning for and supporting student presence and engagement	1	1	1	Underway
Explore the expansion of the Philosophy of Community Schools and the Community Schools Program	1	1		Underway
Implement a comprehensive and collaborative approach among schools and families for early and ongoing identification of needs and appropriate intervention	1	1	1	Underway
4. Enhance student engagement, well-being, and success (Guidelines 2, 5, 6)	1	1	1	
Create a safe, welcoming, and culturally responsive school environment for students			1	Underway
Improve student and family/parent engagement with school	1	1	1	Underway
Identify barriers to the participation in learning, and reduce or eliminate these barriers, leveraging recommendations from the Poverty and Education Task Force (e.g., nutrition, access to menstrual products, transportation)	1	1	1	Planned
Launch and implement a provincial survey for students, parents, school staff, and leaders regarding their school experience to inform provincial-, division-, and school-level plans and responses to supporting student presence and engagement	1	1	1	Planned

	<b>Role/Responsibilities</b>			
Action Item	Manitoba	School Divisions	Schools	Progress
Develop plans for enhancing student engagement, mental health, and well-being	1	1	1	Underway
Provide school staff with trauma-informed professional development	1	1	1	Underway
5. Ensure safe, supportive environments for students (Guidelines 2, 5, 6)				
Create and implement a culturally relevant and responsive curriculum	1	1	1	Underway
Establish and implement guidelines for restorative practice, including restorative justice approaches	1	1	1	Planned
Expand implementation of anti-racism and anti- discrimination education	1	1	1	Underway
Explore the expansion of the Philosophy of Community Schools across the province	1			Underway
Ensure culturally safe educational environments and cultural competence	1	1	1	Underway
6. Provide inter-sectoral and implementation supports (Guidelines 4, 5)				
Engage in cross-departmental work on attendance support	1			Underway
Establish a designated unit in Manitoba Education and Early Childhood Learning to provide system leadership to support student presence and engagement	1			Complete

# **Appendix: Historical Context**

# 2019: Province Established Attendance Task Force

Established in 2019, the task force was composed of community and key childserving departments to make school attendance a policy and programming priority (Education, Families, Justice and Indigenous Reconciliation and Northern Relations). The task force was instrumental in the development of an attendance action plan, policy directive for student presence and engagement, and public education campaign to increase awareness and public discourse around roles and responsibilities. For more information on the task force and its former members, please visit <u>www.edu.</u> <u>gov.mb.ca/k12/action\_plan/attendancetaskforce.html</u>.

# 2019: The Manitoba Advocate for Children and Youth

The Manitoba Advocate for Children and Youth published a special report dedicated to honour the memory of Tina Michelle Fontaine (1999–2014) following an investigation in accordance with *The Advocate for Children and Youth Act*. The special report, *A Place Where it Feels Like Home: The Story of Tina Fontaine*, includes a chronology of Tina's life, gaps within public services, and the Manitoba Advocate for Children and Youth's analysis. The Manitoba Advocate for Children and Youth calls attention to historical and ongoing impacts of colonization in understanding Tina's story.

"In order to understand the story of Tina's life and death it is important to first recognize the history of colonization. This includes the residential school system and the Sixties Scoop, and their lasting impacts on the social, psychological, spiritual, and economic health of Indigenous peoples and Indigenous communities. Like so many, Tina's parents were significantly impacted by historical traumas; their struggles with housing, intimate partner violence, addictions, and mental illness can be directly tied to Canada's history of colonial practices and the implications of this history that continue to exist today for so many Indigenous families." In early years, from Kindergarten to Grade 4, Tina's attendance was bordering on chronic absenteeism. Years that Tina was chronically absent she was not promoted to the next grade level. In Grade 5, Tina's father died by homicide and Tina's disengagement from school increased. From November to December 2011, Tina only attended school for one day. In the new year, Tina transferred to a new school and was absent 26% of school days from 2011–12, 17% in 2012–13, and in 2013–14 Tina was severely chronically absent (Manitoba Advocate for Children and Youth, *The Story of Tina Fontaine*).

Manitoba Advocate for Children and Youth found there were no documented responses to her chronic absenteeism in her Manitoba Cumulative Record. "This lack of action allowed Tina Fontaine to become slowly disengaged from a system that could have acted as a protective factor in her life" (Manitoba Advocate for Children and Youth, *The Story of Tina Fontaine*).

The Manitoba Advocate for Children and Youth recommended a data-informed plan to address chronic absenteeism and resourcing to school divisions to increase capacity to measure, identify, assess, and respond to school absenteeism (Manitoba Advocate for Children and Youth, *The Story of Tina Fontaine*).

### 2020: Commission on K to 12 Education

In March 2020, the *Report of the Commission on K to 12 Education* highlighted the significant, interconnected relationship between student achievement and well-being and student absenteeism. The Commission recognized absenteeism as an "early warning sign" (symptom) of problems with "poor health, poor mental health, family and work responsibilities, transportation, bullying, homelessness, undiagnosed cognitive vulnerabilities, the death of a parent" (Commission on K to 12 Education 60).

The recommendation by the Commission was for the Manitoba government to "work with intersectoral partners to improve student attendance by designing an action plan, implementing a new provincial attendance policy and developing a system to measure, assess and respond to the root causes that lead to chronic absenteeism, including supporting parents in their roles." Recommendations 17 to 21 speak specifically to this objective, which include the following:

- Increasing public awareness on the impact of absenteeism on student achievement and well-being
- Increasing the capacity to collect, measure, assess, and respond to the underlying causes of absenteeism; providing transparent information to the public on suspensions and expulsions, ensuring absences are reported to the province and parents in a timely manner
- Developing and implementing a plan to identify factors for non-attendance, ensuring the best interests of children are paramount and that actions respect the right to education for all children and youth
- Reviewing Manitoba's Provincial Code of Conduct: Appropriate Interventions and Disciplinary Consequences (2017) in light of recommendations from Manitoba's Advocate for Children and Youth and, regarding suspensions and expulsions, develop a province-wide strategy to limit, reduce, and phase out exclusionary practices except in situations of imminent safety risk to students and staff, balancing appropriately the need for at-risk students to receive an education and ensuring that all students have a safe and orderly learning environment
- Developing and implementing a provincial protocol that clearly defines the roles/responsibilities of all involved in the education of students and their families, including staged actions to be taken to respond to student absenteeism with a focus on building and sustaining relationships

# **2021: Consultations for a New Action Plan for Student Presence**

In February 2021, Manitoba Education and Early Childhood Learning launched work with Directions Evidence and Policy Research Group to address chronic absenteeism in K to 12 schools. The research, interviews, and recommendations provided by Directions Evidence and Policy Research Group, as part of Manitoba's action plan on student presence, informed the development of this policy directive.

The Directions team conducted 51 interviews with people working in government, school divisions, and schools, the larger community, and academia (2022). Interviewees identified many reasons that students do not attend school and reasons that students do attend school (Table 1).

Reasons to stay away from school	Reasons to go to school
<ul> <li>No one cares or notices if I'm there</li> <li>Must look after family members: <ul> <li>Keep parent/siblings safe from X</li> <li>Look after siblings when parent works</li> <li>Take care of sick siblings, young siblings, adults</li> <li>Must accompany parent to appointments</li> </ul> </li> <li>No food at home, always hungry, can't concentrate</li> <li>My clothes aren't ok for school: shoes, clothes, outerwear</li> <li>Getting to the bus/school on time is hard</li> <li>I'm too sad</li> <li>Trips to grandparents, aunts, and uncles away from home community</li> <li>Always behind in schoolwork—no place to work, no Wi-Fi</li> <li>School is boring, subjects aren't interesting to me</li> <li>I don't have friends at school</li> <li>My friends are on the street</li> <li>School feels hopeless</li> <li>Don't see a future that connects to school</li> <li>I don't feel safe at school</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>There are teachers and others at school who care about me</li> <li>There is help at school with my problems: <ul> <li>Help with my emotions</li> <li>I learn about healthy relationships</li> <li>Help with practical problems like clothing, food, housing and help for my family</li> </ul> </li> <li>There is food at school—breakfast, lunch, and snacks</li> <li>If I get behind, the teacher helps me get back on track</li> <li>School is fun—I like learning</li> <li>There are activities at school that I enjoy: arts, crafts, sports, cooking</li> <li>There are programs at school that help me learn about my culture</li> <li>Subjects are taught in a way that makes me see myself as a successful learner</li> <li>There are programs at school that help me think about my future (Career Trek, experiential learning)</li> <li>I'm safe at school</li> <li>I can play safely at school</li> </ul>

# Table 1: Lessons from Interviews:Reasons Affecting Student Attendance, 2022

# 2022: Manitoba's K to 12 Education Action Plan and the Vision for Student Success

Launched in April 2022, Manitoba's K to 12 Education Action Plan articulates a vision where are **all Manitoba students succeed**, **no matter where they live**, **their background**, **or their individual circumstances**.

This vision puts students at the centre and requires focusing all talents, efforts, and resources on improving student success. Student success will look different for every child and it always means they are prepared to reach their full potential and to live The Good Life in which they

- have hope, belonging, well-being, and purpose
- have a voice
- feel safe and supported
- are prepared for their individual path beyond graduation
- have capacity to play an active role in shaping their future and be active citizens
- live in relationships with others and the natural world
- honour and respect Indigenous ways of knowing, being, and doing with a commitment to and understanding of truth and reconciliation

To achieve our vision that all students succeed and reach their full potential, student engagement and well-being is of paramount concern. Every day in school counts. Engagement, presence, and attendance matter.

### Resources

- Indigenous Services Canada. *Jordan's Principle.* Government of Canada, 2023, <u>https://sac-isc.gc.ca/eng/1568396296543/1582657596387#sec2</u>.
- Manitoba Education and Early Childhood Learning. "Philosophy of Inclusion." *Student Services.* Province of Manitoba, 2023, <u>www.edu.gov.mb.ca/k12/specedu/aep/</u> <u>inclusion.html</u>.
- ———. "What's New." Safe and Caring Schools. Province of Manitoba, 2023, <u>www.edu.</u> <u>gov.mb.ca/k12/safe\_schools/</u>.
- ———. Community Schools Program. Province of Manitoba, 2023, <u>www.edu.gov.mb.ca/</u> <u>csp/index.html</u>.
- ———. Indigenous Academic Achievement Grant. Province of Manitoba, 2023, <u>www.edu.</u> gov.mb.ca/k12/docs/support/aaa/.
- ----. An Indigenous Education Policy Framework. Province of Manitoba, 2022, <u>www.</u> edu.gov.mb.ca/iid/.
- ———. Standards for Appropriate Educational Programming in Manitoba. Province of Manitoba, 2022, <u>www.edu.gov.mb.ca/k12/specedu/aep/pdf/standards\_for\_student\_services.pdf</u>.
- Manitoba Education and Training. 2016. *Administrative Handbook for Schools*.\_Province of Manitoba, 2017, <u>www.edu.gov.mb.ca/k12/docs/policy/admin/index.html</u>.
- ———. 2017. Creating Racism-Free Schools through Critical/Courageous Conversations on Race. Province of Manitoba, 2017, <u>www.edu.gov.mb.ca/k12/docs/support/</u> <u>racism\_free/index.html</u>.
- ———. Safe and Caring Schools: Provincial Code of Conduct: Appropriate Interventions and Disciplinary Consequences. Ministerial directive, 2014, rev. ed. 2017. Province of Manitoba, 2017, <u>www.edu.gov.mb.ca/k12/safe\_schools/pdf/code\_conduct.pdf</u>.
- ———. Smudging Protocol and Guidelines for School Divisions. Province of Manitoba, 2019, <u>www.edu.gov.mb.ca/iid/publications/pdf/smudging\_guidelines.pdf</u>.

- Manitoba Education, Citizenship and Youth. 2006. *Student Services—Appropriate Educational Programming.* Province of Manitoba, 2006, <u>www.edu.gov.mb.ca/k12/</u> <u>specedu/aep/index.html</u>.
- ———. Safe and Caring Schools: A Policy Directive Enhancing Proactive Supports to Minimize the Use of Seclusion. Province of Manitoba, 2021, <u>www.edu.gov.mb.ca/k12/docs/support/seclusion/index.html</u>.
- Manitoba Families. *The Protecting and Supporting Children (Information Sharing) Act.* Province of Manitoba, 2023, <u>www.gov.mb.ca/fs/informationsharingact/index.</u> <u>html</u>.
- Manitoba Healthy Child. *Child and Youth Programs—Families First.* Province of Manitoba, 2023, <u>www.gov.mb.ca/healthychild/familiesfirst/</u>.
- Manitoba Indigenous Reconciliation and Northern Relations. *Northern Healthy Foods Initiative*. Province of Manitoba, 2023, <u>www.gov.mb.ca/inr/major-initiatives/nhfi/index.html</u>.
- Manitoba Justice. *Lighthouses Program.* Province of Manitoba, 2023, <u>www.gov.mb.ca/justice/commsafe/crimeprev/lighthouses/index.html</u>.
- ———. Restorative Justice. Province of Manitoba, 2023, <u>https://gov.mb.ca/justice/</u> <u>commsafe/restorjus.html</u>.
- Manitoba. *Manitoba Healthy Schools.* Province of Manitoba, 2023, <u>www.gov.mb.ca/healthyschools/</u>.

# **Bibliography**

# **Relevant Legislation**

#### Acts

- Manitoba. *The Accessibility for Manitobans Act,* C.C.S.M. c. A1.7. Queen's Printer— Statutory Publications, 2013, <u>www.accessibilitymb.ca/law.html</u>.
- ———. The Education Administration Act, C.C.S.M. c. E10. Queen's Printer— Statutory Publications, 2019, <u>https://web2.gov.mb.ca/laws/statutes/ccsm/e010e.php</u>.
- ----. *The Human Rights Code*, C.C.S.M. c. H175. Queen's Printer–Statutory Publications, 2018, <u>http://web2.gov.mb.ca/laws/statutes/ccsm/h175e.php</u>.
- ———. The Public Schools Act, C.C.S.M. c. P250. Queen's Printer—Statutory Publications, 2020, <u>https://web2.gov.mb.ca/laws/statutes/ccsm/p250e.php</u>.

#### Regulations

- Manitoba. Appropriate Educational Programming Regulation, M.R. 155/2005. Queen's— Statutory Publications Printer, 2005, <u>https://web2.gov.mb.ca/laws/regs/</u> <u>current/\_pdf-regs.php?reg=155/2005</u>.
- ———. Safe Schools Regulation, M.R. 77/2005. Queen's Printer—Statutory Publications, 2005, <u>https://web2.gov.mb.ca/laws/regs/current/\_pdf-regs.php?reg=77/2005</u>.

#### International Treaty

United Nations General Assembly. *Convention on the Rights of the Child.* Office of the High Commissioner, 1989, Amended 2002, <u>www.ohchr.org/en/instruments-mechanisms/instruments/convention-rights-child</u>.

#### **General Sources**

Antworth, Roger Herbert. "Factors Associated with Chronic Absenteeism." University of North Florida Graduate Theses and Dissertations, 2008, <u>https://digitalcommons.unf.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1362&context=etd</u>.

- Balfanz, Robert, and Vaughan Byrnes. *Chronic Absenteeism: Summarizing What We Know from Nationally Available Data.* Johns Hopkins University Center for Social Organization of Schools, 2012.
- Civil Rights Data Collection (CRDC). *Master List of 2015–2016 CRDC Definitions.* CRDC, n.d., <u>https://ocrdata.ed.gov/assets/downloads/CRDC-Definitions-2015-16.pdf</u>.
- Directions Evidence and Policy Research Group. *Addressing Chronic Absenteeism in Manitoba: An Action Plan for Student Presence.* Directions Evidence and Policy Research Group, 2022.
- Garcia, Emma, and Elaine Weiss. *Student Absenteeism Who Misses School and How Missing School Matters for Performance*. Policy Institute, 2018, <u>www.epi.org/</u> <u>publication/student-absenteeism-who-misses-school-and-how-missing-school-</u> <u>matters-for-performance/</u>.
- Gottfried, Michael A. "Chronic Absenteeism in the Classroom Context: Effects on Achievement." *Urban Education*, vol. 54, no. 1, 2015, pp. 3–34.
- Hart, Michael Anthony. *Seeking Mino-Pimatisiwin: An Aboriginal Approach to Healing.* Fernwood Publishing, 2002.
- Manitoba Advocate for Children and Youth. A Place Where it Feels Like Home: The Story of Tina Fontaine. Manitoba Advocate for Children and Youth, 2019, <u>https://cwrp. ca/sites/default/files/publications/MACY-Special-Report-March-2019-Tina-Fontaine-FINAL1%20.pdf</u>.
- ----. Manitoba Advocate for Children and Youth's Submission to the Manitoba Commission on Kindergarten to Grade 12 Education. Manitoba Advocate for Children and Youth, 2019, <u>https://manitobaadvocate.ca/wp-content/uploads/2019-06-18-\_MACY-Submission\_to\_K-12\_MB\_Education\_Commission.pdf</u>.
- Manitoba Education. *Safe and Caring Schools: A Policy Directive Enhancing Proactive Supports to Minimize the Use of Seclusion.* Manitoba Education, 2021, <u>www.edu.gov.mb.ca/k12/docs/support/seclusion/index.html</u>.
- Manitoba Education and Early Childhood Learning (MEECL). An Indigenous Education Policy Framework. MEECL, 2022, <u>www.edu.gov.mb.ca/iid/</u>.
- ———. "Philosophy of Inclusion." MEECL Student Services, n.d., <u>www.edu.gov.mb.ca/k12/specedu/aep/inclusion.html</u>.
- ———. Standards for Appropriate Educational Programming in Manitoba. MEECL, 2022, www.edu.gov.mb.ca/k12/specedu/aep/pdf/standards\_for\_student\_services.pdf.

- Marcotte, Dave E. and Steven W. Hemelt. "Unscheduled School Closings and Student Performance." *Education Finance and Policy*, vol. 3, no. 3, 2008, pp. 316–338.
- Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD). *Student Engagement at School: A Sense of Belonging and Participation Results from PISA 200.* OECD, 2003, <u>https://doi.org/10.1787/9789264018938-en</u>.
- Overholt, Thomas W., and J. Baird Callicott. *Clothed in Fur and Other Tails: An Introduction to an Ojibwa World View.* University Press of America, 1982.
- Parekh, Gillian, Robert S. Brown, and Carl E. James. *Who Comes to York? Access, Participation, and Graduation Trends, Technical Report.* York University, 2020.
- Robson, Karen, Reana Maier, Paul Anisef, and Robert S. Brown. *High School Success and Access to Postsecondary Education*. Higher Education Quality Council of Ontario, 2019.
- Starr Commonwealth. *Circle of Courage*<sup>®</sup>. Starr Commonwealth, n.d., <u>https://starr.org/</u> <u>circle-of-courage/</u>.
- Williams, Lorna, Michele Tanaka, Vivian Leik, and Ted Riecken. "Walking Side by Side: Living Indigenous Ways in the Academy." *Learning and Teaching Community-Based Research: Linking Pedagogy to Practice*, edited by Catherine Etmanski, Budd L. Hall, and Teresa Dawson, University of Toronto Press, 2014, pp. 229–52, *JSTOR*, <u>http://www.jstor.org/stable/10.3138/j.ctt5vkhjm.18</u>.